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~ COMMONS REGISTRATICN

Reference Nos: 269/D/247-254,
/261~266,

/275-280,

. /288-297,

/301-306,

/324-332,

/339-340

ACT 1965

In. the -Matter of (Al) Clay Pits. Triangle,
Stainforth, (A2) Topham Ferry Landing or -

. Public Waterlnq Place, Sykehouse, (A3) Blaﬂkshaw

Landing or Public Watering Place, Fishlake,
(A4} Sour Lane ‘Landing, Fishlake; (5) Bark
Landlng, Sykehouse, (A8) Low Hill Landing,
Thorne, (A7) Barrier Bank and Hanson's Gyme,

‘Thorne, (A8) Love Hill, Thorne, (A9) Reedholme

Landing, Thorne, (AlQ) Plumtree Landing,
clshlake, {Al1l) Hadds Landing, Thorne,

(Al2) Hangman Hill, Ferry Landing,. Fishlake,
and (Al3) Ings Piece, Thorne, 'all: {the said 13}
in- Doncaster District, South’ rorksnlve

&ND

133

255-260
267-274
281-287
298-300
318-323-
333-338

Reference Nos:‘269/D/36—39 and /69=74

In the Matter of (Bl) White Lane Pond,

Four Doles, Clay Pltsand {B2) Ashf field Bank
and Ponds, both in Thorne and Stalnforth
parishes, Doncas;er Dlstrlct South Yorkshira.

AND

" . Reference Nos: 269/D/24-27, /28-29
: /30-32, /47-48
/49-63, /61-68

/824032, /104-134

In the Matter of (Cl} Southend Guyme or Cow
Shit End and Guyme, (C2) Church Yards or 0ld
Grave Yards, (C3) North Station Guyme,

- {C4)} Thorne Market Place, ({(CS) Durhams

-‘Warping Drain, all (the S last named) in

Thorne parish, (C6) Huddle Grounds in

atalnforth and Thorne parishes, (C7) River
Dan and its banks in Xirk Bramwith, Snaith
and Cowick, Fishlake, Sykehouse and- Thovne

‘parishes and (C8) River Went and its banks in -

Sykehouse parish, all (the said %) in Doncastgr'
District, South Yorkshire.
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 .DECISION
Intreoductory

These matters relate to the registrations made under the 1965 Act in the 23 register
Units-of the Register of Common Land and.the Register of Town and Village Greens -
maintained by Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council (formerly South Yorkshire
”County Council and before them West Riding County Council). For purposes of
exposition these Register Units are herein grouped as A, B and C; the registrations,’
Objections ;nd other circgmstancgs giving rise to the disputes and questions to
which this decision relates are specified in the First Schedule hereto.

‘My decision as regards each of these disputés- and questions is set out in the Third
(and last) ‘Schedule hereto. The circumstances in which these disputes and )
questions have arisen and my reasons for giving the decisions so set out are as

fdllows.

I held a hearing for the purpose of inquiring into the said disputes and questions
occasioned by the circumstances set out in the First Schedule hereto at Thorhe on
: 24, 25, 26 and 27 February 1987. At the hearing: (1) Mr William Bunting was
‘represented by Mr B R Cox of counsel instructed by Pearlman Grazin & Co, Solicitors
of Leeds; (2) Yorkshire Water Authority, (3) Doncaster Metropolitan Borough Council 7
. as successor of Thorne Rural Cistrict Council and as registration authority, (4) Mr John
Cundall. Harrison, -~ and (5) Mrs Alice May Asquith were all represented by
Mr Peter R Pennington, solicitor of Kenyon Son & Craddock, -Solicitors of Thorne:
{6} British Waterways Board were represented by Mr Colin Dunkley: FRICS; (7} National
Farmers' Union:.were represented by Miss G Darley, barrister at law in their employ;
(8) -Black Drain Drainage Board as-successors of Messrs Arthur Firth and Frederick -
Firth were represented by Mr R M Williams, solicitor of Dawson Burgess, Solicitors-
.of Doncaster; and (9) BritishRailwaysBoard were represented by Mr Julian Gott, the
Surveyor (Parliamentary) for their North Eastern Region, - L '

' ' Course of proceedings

(24 February) At the' beginning of the hearing Mr Cox.on behalf of Mt Bunting asked -
that the proceedings so far as they relate to the Group B Register Units (VG113

and  VG117) be adjourned. He said (in effect):- The cirtumstances relevant to an
adjournment as they appeared to Mr T P Smith (solicitor of Pearlman Grazin & Co)’
were:~ The notice of this hearing was givenr to Mr Bunting on .17 November 1986; in the
early part of December Mr Smith attended Mr Bunting at his house and discussed '
matters with him; they agreed that Mr Bunting would gather his material together ,
and ‘send it ‘to Mr Smith for his’ consideration; Mr Bunting had fecently been in
hospital for a hernia operation. Mr Smith got the papers on-19 December and gave'
them some cornisideration; on behalf of Mr Bunting on 9 Janudary he applied for legal
aid; the papers.were completed by Mr Bunting on 16 January; on 2 February an
emergency legal aid certificate was granted but it did not cover the preparation for,'
-or the attendance at these proceedings; this certificate was amended on 18 February;
.an affidavit was prepared and by Mr Bunting affirmed on 23 February; in the =
circumstances it had been difficult to obtain from Mr Bunting proper instructions.



135

"‘Mr Cox- ‘referred me to paragraph 2 of the affidavit (specified in Part 1 of the

Second Schedule hereto) and to the deponent's summary hlstory -of his

" "health” (WB 1) exhibited thereto. Mr Cox submitted the matters in question were
complicated and to deal with them effectively it was necessary to analyse carefully
many documents and it was highly desirable therefore in the interests of justice
that all Mr Buntlnq s contentions should be fully argued and considered.

Others present at.the hearing did not agree the adjournment asked for. :
Mention was made of my-decision dated 20 June 1986 about these two and other Reglster
Units by which I had refused. an adjournment after I had heard evxdence from

Mr Buntlng ] medlcal attendant. .

Next I said I refused the VGll3 and VG117 adjournment asked for, my reasons being as
then stated and under the heading "Adjournment” below set dut with some _ .
amplification. The hearing then proceeded on the assumption that as regards these
.two Register Units all questions determinable by a Commons Commissioner have been '
~answered in the two decisions dated 30 March 1984 and the one decision dated

.. 20 June 1986; an assumption which when writing this decision I realised as regards

some minor matters specified below under the headlngs (i) "VG1ll13" and (ii) "VG1l17"

. was not corr8ct . _ . ; ] .
' Next, Mr Cox'on behalf of Mr Bunting asked thet these proceedings so far as
- they related to the Group C 8 Register Units (VGl1l0, 111, 112, 114, 115, 116, 119 and
T 120) be adjourned. for the reasons he had put forward in respect of VGll3l and

VGll7. I refused any such adjournment.: Mr Cox said on behalf of Mr Bunting no
evidence would be offered about the reqlstrations in these 8 Register Units. I said
the conseguence as far as he was concerned.would be:r confirmation of such reglst*atlons
would be *efused. ‘ : : "

‘Next Mr Cox outlined the case he would make in support of Mr Bunting's Group A
registrations. The rights claimed were to take clods, sand, warp and gravel, to take
wood for fuel and.to take the herbage. They arise by custom and prescription. The
primary documents are! The 1626 agreement between HM Charles I and Sir: Cornelius '
Vermuyden respecting. the drainage of Hatfield Chase; the 1627 certlflcate of.

Sir John Savile, the 1629 map of John Arlebou (WB/X/1); the 1630 decree in the
Exchequer. All these were considered in the 1983 High Court judgment of the

Hon Mr Justice Mervyn Davies. He would refer to the History of the Drainage of the
‘Great Level of Hatfield Chase (1975) by George Storer; and also to the 1825 Hatfield
’Thorne and Fishlake Inclosure Award. . :

Next {24 February) oral evidence was given by Mr William Walton (called by

Mr Pennington) who i5' a construction foreman of the Yorkshire River Authority. He
said (in.effect):- Since the early 1960s he had been maintenance foreman of the River:
Don between Goole and Doncaster, for the repair of the flood banks, the Loundary
fences, -the cross fences, grass cutting and the general maintenance throughout of the’
cloughs {where streams debouch into the main River Don). He was freelance and
lnspected as he thought necessary; he traversed-the length of the River from Goole

to Doncaster at least once a month, and may - be more at times: accordlng £o heavy
rainfall, flooding, and before flooding if wet weather forecasted; going to the sluices
and cloughs. From Goole to Bramworth the Rlver is tidal, and it deepens with the
tides and the rainfall, Not daytime only, he could be called out at any time for '
flooding or such. He so worked for about 10 or 12 years until 1973 or-1974.. Since “then

' ',on occasions he had inspected. the River Don, but not so frequently as before because

the work 1nspector {another employee of the" Authority) -now did what he used to do.
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ER

. The banks below Bramwith down to Jubllee Brldge were always (in hls time) tenanted
(meaning from.the. Authority or its predecessor) by cattle (meaning belonging to the
' tenant) : no others had cattle there. There are places for them to drink, but they
could net be driven out of the Rlver, so there are troughs; when working for the (
River Don, holes were left by the sand taken out to repair the banks, so there are
little ponds. . From Jubilee Bridge to* Stainforth on each side of the River. there are
two banks "the Barrier Bank" which keeps back the flood water at hlgh tides and heavy -
rainfalls, and "the River Bank"- (which keeps in:the normal flow); between the two
‘banks there are approximdtely 90 acres on one side ‘and more on the other. As to the
landlnqs {relevantly south of ‘the Went Sluice and’ northeast or north of Bramwith) :
there is not a lot of landing (meaning by. people), he ‘had not heard of them (meaning
‘as places) except a landing (wharf) by Sykehouse (CL328) owned by the River

- Authority. The River Don Schemé came out before.he (the witness) started; under the

Scheme all the banks were.raised to the level. pretty well as they are now. (The
witness then described as he krew them the areas in the Register described as

~ landings, being CL328, CL332, CL33S, CL326, CL336, CL32%9, CL327 and CL334; in the
First Schedule hereto numbered AS, A9 All, A3, Al2, A6, A4 and AlO; his descriptions
were all against the areas durlng his time being known as or used as landings in any

now possibly relevant sense). As to taking wood from these .areas, the Authorlty had
a maintenance gang that took drift wood off the River and its foreshore, and.then
burnt it; as to other weood, no (laughable') As to gravel from these areas, - "I should

not think so”. ‘As to taking warp, it is good soil, he had never seen anyone. taking
T it awey As to taklng sand from the area, no. sand atc all. As to taking clods, no:
when ‘the river floods it does not wash out the grass 'turf; there. is no peat there.

" As to huntlng deer or seeing deer in the area, no (very lauqhable")

Questioned by Mr Cox, Mr Walton generally adhered to (adding some details) what he
said to Mr Pennington, all to the effect. that the Group A units ‘described as.
"Landlngs"'dld not now and while he knew them neither appeared to be nor had been
- used as such; they were not different from the surroundlng land. -

.Next oral ev1dence was given by Mr George Alan Poskltt(calledtnerPennlngton),
cattle dealer; since 1959 a tenant of the Yorkshlre Water Authority of the’ lands by
the River Don on its west side from Jubilee™ Bridge down to Ivy House Farm. He said

" (in effect):- He had known the area before 1959 (he is 57 years), travelllng around;
~it had not changed. The CL326 area is part of the land tenanted by him, all River
-bank, the River on one side, all about the same, grazeable by cattle. No cattle
other than his grazed there. No. gravel or.sand there. As to warp, there is good
soil; ‘he did not really know how it' came. there, but no-one took off the soil, or the
turf. The water for cattle was from a pool and a container put there by the Water

-Authorlty if the pool dried up. He had not seen cattle drlnklng from the szer they
-would get bogged down if they trled :



Questioned by Mr Cox and then 'again by Mr Pennington, Mr Poskitt said:- One side of
the .CL326. area is a lane (marked on the Register map): "You can get down it in a
car". By the lane there is a bank and fencing. The public walk aleong his tenanted
land. From the base (meaning the west side) to the River (meaninq.theﬁnormal water
flow) is a sharp incline, height varying a lot, some piages gradually;. "it is all
.-grass”, On his tenanted land there was no wood useable as fuel or timber; not even

-a hedgerow, ’

 Next (24 February) oral evidence was given by Mr Eric Holt {called by Mr Cox) who
said (in effect):-'He had lived.in or around Thorne all his life (born 1923). He

is a local councillor (Thorne Town) but he came to this hearing not as such but as

a ratepayer. He was' familiar with the River Don.and its banks; he had shot duck on
the River (below high water mark); .during his. lifetime the boundaries of the River
had changed; he had walked all parts of it. He knew well the area called’ the Clay
Pits (meaning as later appeared the CL324 land, the VG113 land and the adjoining land
on the south); he went there as a school .boy and learnt to swim there; it silted up; .
there was plenty of water then, one chap-pulled out a l4lb pike; last time he saw

. fishing it was perch; somebody syphoned water there (from the Canal); there was wild-
"life, then it was cleared; he could not give specific dates; the public cut pea
sticks; just before the war there were cat:tle; during -the war there were.crdps to
help the war effort. As to the CL337 land having a name, it was just a walk to the
railway; walking, bird nesting, climbing trees and the like. As to the CL330 land,
it is part of Ashfield or Huddle Bank; it is only within the last 12 years it has
been fenced. The CL327 land.(off Sour Lane) has been taken over by the Water
Authority; up to.a few years ago it was rough shrub land. as to Hangman Hill (2

meaning the CL336 land), there was fishing: "when we were kids we got eels". As to’
. the CL326 land, "we always frequénted there when we were young, kids roaming
about ...". As to the CL335 land, he went there as a boy .and. knew it as Hadds-

landing; he had not seen sand or gravel there, this his father fetched from Thorne

Moor. ‘Generally about these lands, there was no interference, there were no complaints

' about anyone walking anywhere on the River banks; - the public walked without any fear.
of prosecution. : ‘ ' . '

‘Questioned by Mr Dunkley, Mr Pennington, and again by Mr Cox, Mr Holt said (in

‘effect):- As to the CL324 - land (about 3/4 of an acre, 2/Sths of which is tow path),

one side of the tow path is scrub; he had not. seen anybody digging it, but it had

been grazed, "my dad from his boat took off to agist horses". It cduld_have been
farmed during or just after the war; there was grass there, not shrub land as now,
so there was a bit of decent grazing. He swam in the “Fish Ponds". There were pea

. Sticks in the area, and a public footpath through. Horses were not’ against
nibbling hawthorn trees. There had always been throughaccess. There was a
derelict_swing.:.;t was swamp, but with modern pumps the water level has been
‘lowered, ‘in the’last 12 years. He agreed that the CL337 land had been claimed as
:'public footpath by Thorne Town Council; he thought that people should produce their
title deeds (showing the land). The CL330 land was debatable as regards ownership;.

i
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it was common, meaning used by the public, becayse "we have always roamed it", and
why should it be contended otherwise; he agreed along it was a public footpath; the
"northern bit was now fenced with concrete posts and wire in the last -7 months and
was never fenced before in his lifetime; the central bit has always been fenced on-
the west side. The CL327 land was in-the 1950s rough shrub land; he had not seen
-anyone taking warp; he was not agalnst people walking, but was against the fencxng
The fences-on the east side of the River are post and wire.

.. Next (25 February), Miss Darley'Said she was on behalf of the National Farmers' Union .
-only concerned with the VG115, VG119 and VG120 lands; and Mr R Williams said that
the Black Drain Drainage Board as successors of A Firth & Son (Mr' Arthur Firth néw -
“deceased and Mr Fred Firth) were concerned with VGL15 Cbjection No. 1818 (? and
1849) . Miss Darley submitted: ——3because the February 1984 decisions refused
confirmation of the Land Section registrations, no decision of mine confirming the
Rights -Section registrations could create a common, and there was therefore no need

”-for her and Mr Williams- to bring any evidence agalnst ‘such registration.

_Next, Mr Cox read and explained the February 1987 affidavit of Mr Buntlng and the
14 exhibits thereto (briefly noted in Part I of the Second Schedule hereto) .

Miss Darley then submitted that the matters in the affidavit relating to rights of,
way‘and access, and to rights of fishing were not -relevant to the VG115 and VG120
lands because ways and access were not reglstrable, and .the references to fishing
were to the VG113 land.

'Next oral evidence was quen by Mr Fred Firth'(called by Miss Darley) in the course
of which he produced the documentsspecxfled in Part II of the Second Schedule hereto.
. He said (in effect)-- He would talk about Durhams Warping Drain, being the land
delineated on the’ VG115 Reglster map (FF/l thereon shown -as about lX miles long
containing, according to the 1969 and 1972 conveyances 26.33 acres). He. (now.aged
56 years) had known the land since 1942 when His father (now deceased) became tenant
(2 licensee with Henry Flrth) of the Yorkshire Land and Warping Company Limited..

When he was 21 years of age he went into partnership with his father. .They used the
. land for grazing. It was not a drainage drain; it was a warping drain, so for long
periods-it was dry and easily grazeable by cattle; rough grazing. Noone else '
exercised any right of grazing; or any other type of right such as- Dlscary, he never
knew of any flshlng in the drain, or of venery or auceptary or vert. :

After Mr Firth had by reference to the 1972 declaration (FF/2) explalned how he and
"his father became owners in 1969 and sold to the Black Drain Drainage Board in 1972
(FF/3), in answer to questions by Mr Williams and Mr Cox, he said (in effect):-

The farm of his. father and himself was just north of the land. A warping drain is

to let-the water in.from the River so the silt can settle; this is done in June and
September when the River carries the most silt. There is a notice at the east end -
. of the land asking trespassers to keep out and warning them of danger. .Fences (post-.
" and wire) have replaced hedgerows as long as -he could remember. The pumping station
near the west end of the land was erected in the 1970s.
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.In answer to questions by Mr Pennington and Mr. Cox about:other Register Units,

Mr Firth 'said {in effect):- He and his father for 30 years had been tenants of the -

" Yorkshire Water. Authority of land ad]Olnlng {and west of) the. A6l4 road to the

River Don (east side of) between the road near to the entrance to Durham's Warping .

Drain and a road just beyond the lane leading to Reedholme Farm; next to the Selby

Road (A614) there is’ a quickthorn hedge, next’ the River there is a concrete post and -

barbed wire fence, so the east-west line is: River water, high bank, fence, grazeable
land, hedge, road. The River is tidal. They grazed the land with cattle belonging
to themselves and nobody else except by arrangement not on a regular basis. The land

is not used for sportlng ‘purposes; hé had never given permlSSLOn for anyone to shoot

‘there and had no knowledge of anyone taking duck (as said by Mr Holt). The’ '

- foreshore to the River varies, some places 80 yards other places 20 yards; time of
year and tides. No underwood on the bank. When the tide recedes, dross is left;

he had never seen anybody take it away, except usually the River Authority takes it

- away and burns it. He had only very occasionally seen people walk there. The

- fences he had mentioned had been there since 1939; the concrete posts were put up .
" in the early 19805. . _ : : -. .-

Mr'Firth was questioned by Mr Cox in some’ detail and by Mr Penningﬁon about people
walking over the land by the River of which he is the tenant and about shooting in
the locallty )

Next (25‘February)_orel evidence was given by Mr John Cundall Harrison (called by

Miss Darley). He said (in effect):- He is the tenant of the lands by the River Don

from Stainforth Bridge (on the south) to Bank Side (a farm on the north), meaning

the VG119 land’ excepting the parts let to Mr Poskitt and to Mr Firth -(as by them

stated) . He had been such a- tenant of some of the land for 40 years and of nearly

. all for -30 years. He owned other farm lands nearby and had so done alone or with his
" father for 40 years at least. As tenant he grazed the land (the River side land)

with cattle, mostly beef. Nobody else had s© grazed and’ nobody came on the land to

exerclse any sort ‘of rlqht PR : .

Questloned by Mr Pennlngton, Hr Harrison said that all thls land had been- permanently
fenced by the Yorkshire Quse River Authority about 40 years ago; wood posts and wood'
rail, in recent years replaced by concrete posts and w1re. The areas are gated and
the owners have keys. - . : '

'Questloned by Mr Dunokley by reference to. the VGll9 Objection Ne. 850 spec_fled in
part III of the Second Schedule hereto .Mr Harrison agreed that his lease. did not
extend to the lands in the Objection claimed by British Waterways Board. Questioned

‘A_by Mr Pennington about the Riverside north of that let to Mr Firth, Mr Harrison

agreed that it was tenanted by Mr Stones, but the last bit (north to the New Bridge)
was tenanted by him, Mr Harrison. Questioned by Mr Cox, Mr Harriscn agreed that
there is a footpath along the Riverside and with stiles over the fences; -and as to
shooting if he saw people on the footpath and thought they were attempting %o shoct e
would ask them to leave, because shootlng would be dangerous to his cattle and to
people. .
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Next (25 February), oral evidence was glven by Mr John Desmond Stones (called by -

Miss Darley). He said (in effect):- The evidence of Mr Harrison -was correct. _

The land of whlch he (the witness) was tenant had been fenced for approximately

~ 50 years; his father was then tenant. He had known the land all his life (60 years);
it had been grazed most of the time except on one or two. occasions when cut for hay.

Nobody had exercised rights over it except his father and himself. .It'is fenced now

with concrete posts and barbed wire, replaczng a wooden type of fence put up about

30 years ago. "The Water Authority is his landlord. . ‘

To me Mr Stones identified his tenancy as east of the Rlver, west of the A614 road,
north of a line a llttle north of the lane to Reedholme Farm and south’ of a line v
'099051te the R D de on the south side of Went Green east of the River. Questioned
by Mr Cox, Mr Stones said he had not seen shooting on his side of the River; as to
CL328 by Bank House on -the west side of the River he had not seen people shooting
there, but had seen them walking to shoot. To Mr Pennington, Mr Stones explained
that he did not. see these people actually shoot they were merely carrying fire arms.

Next Mr Pennlngton on behalf of Doncaster Metropolltan Borough Council produced the
'1987 Footpath Definitive Wap spec1fled in Part v of the Second Schedule hereto.

Next (24 February) oral ev1dence was given by Mrs_Alice May Asquith by reference to
the plan annexed to her VGl20 Objection No. 2010 (AMA/Ll}, being the same as that
annexed to her CL325 Objection No. 2009 (AMA/2); these plans show the CL;ZS land as
0S No. 188 containing 3.712 acres and as adjoining the south bank of the River Went
a short distance east of Topham Ferry Bridge. She said (in effect):- Her grandfather
bought the land edged red on the said plans’ (belng the said CL325 Land and alsoc to
.the east of it OS No. 187 containing 0.841 acres being the house and garden Sunny
Manse and 0OS No. 186 containing 2.568 acres adjoining the CL325 land and the River.
Since 1928 he had farmed, about half as. arable- some of it floods and it is not
fenced from the River Went. ©S.187 is the house and - garden 05 186 is a field
.about half is. grass and the rest.of orchard; 0S 188 (the CL325 land) has always
-arable but nobody.had qraied there except themselves' There is a barrier bank in
front of her ‘property. (shown on the sald plan by a double dotted line F.P., south
. of that thereon edged red. .

The sald plan lncluded in the edged_red is the adjoining water of the River Went up
to the middle line, being part of the VG120 land. After some discussion Mrs Asquith
said she would amplify her evidence with documents on the following day and Mr Cox -
_ said that he would then questlon her about the CL325 (not the VGl20) land :

and Mr Dunkley said he was coricerned with oher parts of the VG120 land.

Next (24 February) oral ev1dence was glven by Mr Coan Dunkley a chartered surveyor
who until his retirement in 1985 from British Wateérways Board was their principal
Estate Officer in the North of England and in Scotland. He said (in effect):- As
to.the VGl1lé land, the part lying to the north of the Stainforth and Keadby Canal
between Stainforth Basin and the Railway Brldge immediately to the west .of Thorne
Lock ‘has always been let to Mr Harrison as he had stated in his evidence; no-one had
claimed to a r:qht to graze it without the approval .of the Board and it had always
had a tenant; there are no trees growing on the land which could facxlltate the
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collectzon of wood for burning or estcvers- the cutting of turf would be the subject
of prosecutzon by the Board as it would produce the stability of the bank and be
likely to cause flcoding; shootlng would be a minor offence across canals and over
land ‘adjeining canals and the Board have a long record of prosecutlnq offenders.

~As to VG119 (River Don) MrDunkley said (in effect):~ The land edged red on the plans
attached to the Board's Objection No. 858 comprise four small areas. The first area
is a narrow strip of land on the north side of the Stainforth and Keadby Canal
extending for a .distance of about 400 yards east bf Bramwith Swing Bridge, as
‘delineated on Objection Plan No. 31 (JCH/1l); it is a public footpath and is so

- marked; it would not be possible to exercise any right of common over it because

(1) there is no grass on it and it is land adjacent to the towpath, (ii) there are
~no trees or timber growth, and (iii) shOOtlng would be an offence for which the Board
would prosecute. The second area is a narrow strip of land on the north side of the
access road from Stainforth Bridge to West Bank; it is between 5 and 10 feet wide

and is dellneated on - Ob]ectlon Plan No. 33 (JCH/2 and CD/1l); it is not possible to';
exercise rlghts over this area because it is too narrow and the Parish Council ~have
planted an ornamental treée by it. The third area is a disused lock between the

River and a basin off the Canal as dellneated on the said Objection Plan No. 33; it

- no ‘longer glves access to the Basin-and the River Don, but nevertheless is still-in-
" water and is used as a wet dock in connection with boat repalrs, the fact that it

is a lock chamber full of water precludes anyone exerc151ng any common right over

. it. The fourth area is part of the foreshore of the River as delineated on Objection
‘Plan No. 34 (JCH/3;  thereon appearing as about 60 feet by 40 feet); it is included
'in and surrounded by land let to Mr Harrison; here again the common rights which have:
been claimed would be lnapproprlate to this area and could not be exércised.

As to VG120 (River Went), Mr Dunkley sald The land edged red on the plan
attached to the Board's Objectlon No. 859 adJOLRS or is near to the bridge carrying

- the New Junction Canal over the River; it is part of the Canal, ‘being a very steep
embankment (supporting‘the waterway and the bridge) incapable of belng grazed; there
is no access to it, no growth of tlmber, trees or shrubs.

About the ownership of VG119 and VG120, Mr Dunkley sa;d that the Board had been
advised by. Thorne Parish Counc11 that their reglstratlon in the Ownershlp Section
was w1thdbawn )

'-Next (25 February) Mr J D Stones continued his evidence saylng (in effect)-- He had
now identified the CL332 land: it lS no different. from its- surroundlngs, but.it was
different prior to 1936; we called it "the willow garth" because it grew a lot of
willows which the River Board used to cut down. There is the River ‘itself, a flat

" _portion of about 6 yards, the river bank, the other .side at the foot of the bank and
then . next the roadside hedge; there is a gate from the road to this bank, you turn
left at the foot of the bank and get into a field; the gate is just south of CL232.
‘He was tenant with his father for 50 years and had known the area for 60 years- (now.
‘nearly aged 66 years). The holding was grazed mostly.and cut hay. No cattle other
-.than their -own grazed it.. There was no sand; certainly not seen anyone-taking clods,
this would erode the bank; never seen anyone taking warp off the bank or anybody’
“shootlng on thlS small plece, only very rarely seen walkers.

hS
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Mr Stones in answer to questions by Mr Cox generally adhered to what he had said;
there was no path on the top of the bank because not sufficient people make a path,
but there were cattle paths, he did not know this part of the river as a "ancient
watering place”; at the early age about which they .were talklng (before 1936) it was
derelict. . He did riot know whether the public had free access and was under the
impression that anydne could walk along the side of a'tidal river. He had seen_the
River Board people collectlng drlftwood te burn lt. This derelict area was very
wet - - . :

_ Next (26 February) oral evidence was given by Mr James Armstrong (called by

‘Mr Pennington) who i now aged 69 years and retired, is the Secretary of the Ings
Angling Club and .is and has been since 1980 an Honorary Water Bailiff of the - .
'Yorkshlre Water Authority.  He said (in effect):- He had been concerned with the Clay
Pits Area, meaning the VG113 land and incidentally the CL324 land. The Club was -
tenant of it from June 1984 to June 1986. When they started it was overgrown with
weeds and full of rubbish; on the north part not grass but scrub; there was some
copse and some trees, but these dlsappeared during the miners' strike. The-
photographs produced (JA/1-11) showed how it was and what they did. They cleared
a part, about 10 by 6 vards of the pond. He saw no sand Oor gravel or warp; .
additional water came by syphoning from the Canal;. there were no turf or clods no -
cattle grazed there. He had known the area since 1950; it was always known as the
clay pits, more or less like it was in 1982. Local people helped themselves to
pea sticks but not in an organised way. The land was "clay pits" (used in the past}
for lining the canal and that is what they were. The clay gets very hard when dry.

Next Mrs A M Asquith contlnulng her evidence produced the documents specified in

Part IX of the Second Schedule hereto, and said (in effect):- She had lived at

Sunny Manse since 1928; her father, Albert James Holgate lived there from 1928 until -
. his death.in 1960. Her grandfather lived there before they came; it was let
approximately. in 1930 or 1931; her husband farmed it for her father and after his
death they had just carried on farming it. OS No: 188 has always been arable,
mostly corn, it is good land (not warp), loam not sand and no gravel, no clods or
turf; the field is level and stands high, higher than the land that surrounds it
except ‘two ‘low corners which flood. It is enclosed all round; the hedge on the River
.side is kept chopped very low so it is hardly a hedge ; there arealso hedges on the
roadside . between the fields which adjoin Topham Ferry Bridge Farm.. Their own ’
cattle had grazed on OS 186 but OS 188 was always arable. The.land marked on the

©ld map (AMA/16}) .as the old course of the River floods Very badly;it is just very-
low lying land. -The road fronting on. the house, "a proper road" to Topham Ferry.

. House, is maintained by the Council, : - . :

Next Mr Cox asked me to note that Mr Dunkley had produced an agreement dated 1893
between Manchester, Sheffield and London Railway Company and Sheffield and South '
Yorkshire Nav1gat10n Company on which the words “Thorne Common" were shown between
the Staxnforth and Keadby Canal "and the CL337 land. ’
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Next (zg.February) oral evidence was given by Mr Julian Gott who for British Rallways
.‘Board was . concerned with the CL331 land by Thorne South Rallway Station .and with the
part of the railway embankment included in the VG113 land (Mr Dunkley being .
concerned with the rest of such land) in the course of which he produced the
documents specified in.Part X of the Second Schedule hereto. ~About the 1857
conveyance (JG/5), the 1863 Act and the Deposited Plan and .Book of Reference {(JG/6
and 7) Mr Gott observed that before 1857 the Canal Company and the Railway Ccmpany
in this area were the same, South Yorkshire .Railway and River Don Company, from these
documents he inferred that the VG113 land was in 1863 land of the Company. Comparing
the modern plans showing the CL331 Land (JG/1l and 2) with the footpath map (JG/8) ‘and
" the deposited plan as explained by the Book of Reference (JG/4) he inferred that the
- footpath marked on the CL331 Register Map was Footpath No. "13" on JG/8 and that the
land surrounding it was. not common land when the deposited plan-and Book of Reference
were made. The Arlebout Map (WB/X/l) and the 0S 1/50,000 Landranger 111 both show
the. churches of Finningley, Hatfield and’ Thorne; the 1639 Arlebout map was unrel;able
~ as indicating the CL331 land to be historic common land. The first sentence in
-paragraph 4 of the affidavit of Mr Bunting is unreliable in that Thorne' South -
Station is a long way from anythxng which could conceivably be a landing stage.
Up to 6 Aprll 1965 the CL331 land was part of an operational goods yard, which the
.Board ' is under statutory obligation to fence, see section 68 of the Rallway Clauses
Act 1845. About it there was the South Yorkshire Railway (Sheffield and Thorne) Act
1862, 25 & 26 Vict. ¢. cxli; see also section 55 of the British Transport Commission
. Act 1949. No parishioners could have grazed cattle in a goods yard, (as stated in
‘the said paragraph 4). There is much else in . the affidavit which could not apply to
the CL331 land, for example paragraphs 6, 8 and 9; rights of way such as are
mentioned in paragraph 10 are not within these proceedings. The 1815 conveyance
(JG/10) 'showed the title of the Board: (as successors of the Great Central Railway
Company) and the Deposited Book and Reference Plan show it to be farm land in  the
1860s; if there had been .common rights over it- they would have extinguished under
the spec1al act authorising the railway which would lncorporate sections 99 et seg
of the Lands Clauses Consolidation Act 1845 -

Mr Gott submltted that the right of common as registered was negatived by the CL386
July 1983 High Court .decision and my- observations about similar rights in my CL401
.June 1986 decision, that I should pay no attention to the evidence of Mr E Holt
"because he did not mention the CL331 land although "South Common", which he gave as
'his address, is nearby. Mr Cox seemed to be relying on prescription; under the '
1832 Act, there is no prescription for rlghts of common in gross, and prescrxptlon
for such rlghts, doouments should be produced. .

Questloned by Mr Cox, Mr Gott said (in effect)-- He agreed that the CL331 land was
now uncared for and neglected and there were no trees there although there is some
grass. He con51dered the public ‘access along the footpath was lawful, but that the
dumping of rubbish on it was not. On appearance the churches now at Finningley,
.Hatfield and Thorne were there before A:lebout ‘he. though pre-conquest._
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Next (26 February) oral evidence was given by Mr James Reed (called by

Mr Pennington) who said (in effect):- He had lived since 1953 at 32 Lock Lane and

in Thorne ‘all his life -(born 1926). His wife- (formerly Elsie Firth) lived in the
Lock Lane area before (born there}. Their house backs ontoc the CL330 land; there

it is a bank or dyke; between it and their. property, at. the bottom 4
~—=> there was a quagmire; the dyke by their propertyis a nearly straight line next to
the ‘back fences of the houses of Lock Lane but it recedes away. from such line as it
continues (northward) to White Lane; on the other side of the Lane the bank carries
on to the main road. The top of the bank is about 10 feet above their backland;
along the top of it there is a public footpath. He had grazed the bank because it

is near their property (witness described in detail the CL330 land as it is and was at'the
‘back of his property) . He had grazed animals since 1953. He had had a donkey and
Shetland pony, he has no donkeys now but grazes 3 Shetlands and a goat. There were
no other animals where he grazed. On the part of the CL330 land by the Ambulance
Station (north end), —3Mr Horace Dukes grazes a goat and it is there now. A few
_years ago he (the witness) tethered a pony for about 3 years at the south end of _
‘the CL330 land. On the other side of the Swing Bridge there is a"smakl part of the CL330
land,that:used to be a clough; he thought it was now a tipping place; there were
never any cattle on it. . —— He . knew the CL337 land as

"Ings Lane"; (witness then described it) it opens up the corner and then continues

to the railway bridge; the grass by the side of the lane.is very rough, mostly
nothing but rubbish and nettles; there was a car tfack; the grass has been grazed

by horses, ponies and cattle; up to 12 months ago Miss Shirley Dyas grazed from her
house, and before her Mr rFreddie Brammer who was 4 local horse dealer paid for the
grazing and before him Mr John Postgate had land near the railway; Mr Dickins -t
grazed and Mr Tony Darley grazed; that would go back about 30 or 40 years. The
grazing was tented (for.which 5/- a week was paid to the man tenting the beasts).

Questioned by Mr Cox, Mr Reed amplified what he had said about grazing by Mr Horace

. Dukes and himself of theCL330 land and by Miss Shirley Dyas and Mr Freddie Brammer of
the CL337 land. He agreed with Mr Dunkley that part of the CL330 land was occupied
by Stanilands, was fenced from the .road and that the smaller and other part on the
other side of 'the Swing Bridge was an old clough, but "it would not feed a goat, a

. derelict piece of land it == is rubbish". Questioned by Mr Pennington he said he

" thought that Miss. Shirley Dyas for her grazing had paid, ——> having first written
a letter to the Town Clerk. ] ) : . T

Next (26 February) oral evidence was given by Mr Harold Smith (called by

Mr Pennington) who was a refuse collecting superintendent and was as a part-time
occupation a smallholder. He said (in effect):- At the age of 20 years (now aged

60 yéa;s) he became farm foreman for Mr Fred Dickins who used to farm about .
91 acres between Ashfield Bank and the Canal; he stayed with him for about 6‘yéa:s.
He was familiar with the area marked "Fish Ponds" on the map (on Register Map °
éppafeh;ly including the CL324 land and-the VG113 land); it was all overgrown with .
bushes and being a bit lower.than the grassland against it (to the south) it was
reasonably wet; it was. not put to any use; it was not owned by Mr Dickins: as to
pasturing cattle, it would take time to clear it and was not worth' it,
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He never saw ~ cattle there;"he once had a cow in there but you could’
not see her, you had to follow a trail to find her. There was no gravel or warp
"or clods there. and definitely no peat and it was not.usable for any purpose. He
was familiar with the CL337 land 'as "Low Ings Lane"; he used to go up and down

3 or 4 times a .day depending on the season. He never used it otherwise than, for
.going up to the land; it had more nettles and docks on it than grass; it was an

ash lane; contractors -dropped ashes there from landowners who wanted to get rid of
them. -There was a narrow strip on either side varying in width; it was not used
for anything when Fred Dickins had the land down there. Since he had from 1970 to
1975 himself rented a.piece - "the Gregory Piece" {on my. copy of’ the Reglster'Map
by me marked "HS" extending from the south corner of the CL337 land to the rallway
‘next to and north of where it crosses the bank, on the other side of the line

named Ashfleld Bank) . Ings Lane itself was rented from Thorne Parish Council by
Fred Brammer (he died 10 years ago) and after him by Shirley Dyas who paid

50 shllllnqs a year for it so she said; she went into see the Parish Council; no
‘'one else had it; before Mr Brammer cows came down and grazed it; milking cattle
were brought up and down the lane twice a day; "they kept the lane tidy!; they got
their bellyful, saving thegrasson their own fields!". -He did not know of anyone else
‘other than Shirley Dyas ‘pPaying to graze nor anybody else bringing cattle there
other than.the owners of, the adjoining lands. There was no gravel warp or clods or
turf there and nobody used the land "except the people who have land down there".

As to the CL330 land he knew of it by all his. life just walking up and down the
footpath there used to be a hawthorn hedge overgrown on the bank, you had a job

to get along the top but nobody bothered akout it; there was no sand, gravel or warp
there or turf or clod. * Mr Bunting lives at the house called Periplaneta

(the witness described it).- ‘ : o .o

Questloned by Mr Cox, Mr H Smlth detaxled the locallty of Perlplaneta and ampllfzed
his previous evidence about the CL337 land and the CL330 land saying (in effect):
Before Mr Erammer paid money to graze the CL337 land it was used by farmers, ‘at

" one time 8 landowners in the region then there were 6 different landowners; he
agreed it was first come ‘first served, plus ‘the 6 farms who used it taking cattle
to Lock Lane and Queen Street. At the White Lane end of the CL330 land was an old
.pinfold; he thought the land belonged to the Water Authority. Questioned by

Mr Pennington, Mr Smith said that Mr Dickins' orchard was where the flats are now;
another person who had land nearby was Mr Lees and before him Mr Barley. He agreed
" with Mr Dunkley that the small part of the CL330 land .south of the Canal used to be'
part ‘of a kltchen garden (as shown on Mr Dunkley .8 1897 plan) .

Vext (27 February) after ‘some dlSCUSSlOH as to the possrble duration of the

hearing, ‘Mr Cox said he would neither apply to call any further evidence nor save

" in support of the CL324, CL330 and CL337 reqlstratlons proceed to any further
argument, but he was not withdrawing any evidence or argument already given.
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Next Mr E Holt intervened saylng that he -had spoken to Mr John Megarry, Clerk of
the Town Council, that mornlng and from him understood that in general the
_CL330 (2 CL337) land was common land that the Town Council had designs to

plant trees andmake it a way from White Lane going westerly by Stanilands Boatyard
_towards Fishlake. Accordingly he {(Mr Holt) stoed by all he had already said (on
‘24 February). Questioned by Mr Pennington, Mr Dunkley and myself, Mr Holt did not
dispute that there was a public footpath along the Bank (central part of the ’
CL330 land) _the Town Clerk when talking to him was looklng at a map.

" Next Mr J C. Harrison continued his oral evxdence oroduczng the. documents specified
in. Part XI of the Second’ Schedule hereto and saylng (in effect):- The land of the
Yorkshire River Authorlty occupied by him was between the barrier banks (which he
~described) for the protection of the surrounding land from flood water and the
river bank (conf:.m.ng the normal flow). All-is fenced, poss:.bly for 40 years or
more, at first with post and rail (timber fencing) then replaced over the years

by concrete posts and barbed w1re. The grazing for cattle is between these banks;
nothing in the nature of sand or gravel; there would be warp in the river;

nobody: takes the turf hut it has been reseeded over the years; nobody had grazed
cattle other than himself; he did not allow shooting on it; there is footpath
access for walkers over which there are stiles. The-CL337 land was to him
bas:.cally ‘an accommodation road what you get to over -the Lock' on turning r:Lght
affording easy access to the lands on the left and right hand sides of it and also
to other lands by going under the railway bridge at the end of CL337. There were
as far as he knew no. rights of common over it in 1965 he farmed both sides of

the CL337 land and alsc land on the other side of the railway {(under the bridge},
for some 20 years; he did not farm the land on the.west side next to the bridge

but he did farm the land next to the bridge on the east side now owned by his

wife as appeared from the 1976 Land Certificate (JACH/1l shows title to a piece bounded
‘by CL337 on the south,; by the railway on the northwest and the Canal on the north .
then bounded by the rallway on the northwest, by the CL337 on the neortheast and by
'HS land on the southeast and southwest) .. The 1968 declaration of A Lee. (JCH/13)
deals particularly with the roadway on the CL337 land and coloured yellow on the
annexed plan. (the deponent identified it w1th a road of the breadth of 21 feet
referred to in the- Hatfield, Bourne and Fishlake Inclosure Award- and says thereA
has never been any interference with free access along it). The road was purely

to provide access to land on either side of the Ings Piece (the .CL337 land) and
access to lands on the other side of the railway (undetr the bridge); it has
recently been improved having been before an ash road or cart track; it has verges
of various widths but there are of no use as such; just verges to.a road, apart fromto
Mr Brammer who rented part of these verges and grazed horses and so he thought to the
young lady (Miss Dyas) who grazed 1.t for her pony. Thecattle which had been there were from the
adjoining fields and:3 or ¢ farms ‘which were at one time down there; the cattle
were driven to the land to which the track formed. access; the milk cans are. taken
down the path .every mornlng every day of the year. :
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‘Questloned by Mr Cox, ‘Mr Harrlson 'said that to hlm the word. tenting meant looking
after cattle; if you are tentlng cattle you do not lear them;. you are tenting them;
"cattle on the CL337 1and qrazed as they walked along it; there was no rule, first
come., " S -

Next Mr C Dunkley contlnued his oral ev1dence in the course of ‘which he produced '
documents specified in Part XII of the Second Schedule hereto and after mentioning
the CL324 Waterways Board Objectlons Nos. 827 and.828, the evidence of .
Mr J Armstrong and Mr H Smith, and the absence of any mention of the CL324 land in -
the ‘affidavit of Mr Bunting, amplified ‘the evidence of Mr Gott by saying (in
"effect) :- The CL324 land was part (the west end) of the land comprised in the
1857 conveyance (JG/S). The title of the Canal .and Razlway became separate .
consequentlal on the’ Sheffleld and South Yorkshire Navigation Act 18891 7 { 5¥
O ——» Pursuant to such Act there was an agreement of 17 January 1893
by wh;ch the Manchester, Sheffield and Lincolnshire Railway Company ("MSLRC") sold
to Sheffield and South Yorkshire Navigation Company ("S$SYNC") and by reference to.
.the book of plans referred to in the Act (CD/10); the CL324 land and the VGll3 land
are within the land edged red, the'ponds'being blue. Also included in the area
'edged red is the part of the CL330 land now fenced in as part of Stanllands Yard
and- on such plan marked as "garden" By the 1896 conveyance (CD/1l) the land
comprised in the agreement and reference to it was conveyed MSLRC to SSYNC. By
the 1943 conveyance (CD/11) part of the. CL330 land south of the Canal was conveyed
by Mrs Chappell to the Stafford and South Yorkshire Nav1gatlon Company. The
Parish Council claims have been- withdrawn by the 1987 letters {(CD/13 and 14).
[Part of the CL330 land where it is owned by the British Waterways Board nearest
to the Canal is now let to Stanilands Boat, Builders and from his own knowledge
extending back for about 35 years he: belleved that there were similar leases 3 years
before that, the book of plans shows it as fenced in 1893. There is no way that
any rights could be exercised. over theé these small plots.. The remainder of the
area within the Board's ‘Objection No. 860 was within the 1943 conveyance (CD/12)
and ‘'is shown on-the 1853 book of plans. It is not possible to exercise- common
r1ghts over it, part is a- towpath the excavation of which would endanger .
‘navigation, shooting is a byelaw offence, warp and grazing could not apply.  The ‘
" garden ground. area has for so many years been such as ~— rights could not have
been claimed over it. . '

" Next Mr Pennlngton made submxss;ons generally on the questions of these proceedlngs'
in the course of which we looked at the 1825 Inclosure. Award and the map annexed to
it {produced from the custody of the Doncaster Metropolitan Counc1l) and he drew
attention to the allotment in it and the Ashf;eld Bank Road referred to in the
statutory declaratlon of Mr Lee (JCH/13) . .

Next Mr Cox made submissions generally on behalf of Mr Bunt;ng partlcularly as.
‘regards the CL324, CL330 and CL337 lands claiming that rights to graze cattle as
reglstered existed in gross .by common law prescrlptlon and also existed (at the
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date of registration) although never registered in the Rights Section. 1t was

. clear before the 1630 Decree.that the inhabitants in this area enjoyed general
rights of common; such rights have not been lost by abandonment or statute or
award. They have in relatlon to the CL324 land been exercised by Mr Holt grazing
_it with horses and also-a bullock on one occasion, there being as Jg said

adequate grass or herbage for him to do this; alsé by taking pea sticks as had

been said by Mr J Armstrong. They have in relation to the CL330 land been
exercised by Mr Horace Dukes grazing a goat, as was ‘said by Mr Reed who himself

. is now grazing poniés and goats and .before a donkey. They had in relation to the
CL337 land been exercised by Miss'Shirley Dyas grazing a horse or a donkey, by

Mr H Smith (he mentioned milk cattle who were tented down there), and by grazing

_ by other farmers; of this there was no evidence that anybody had complained or .
. disapproved. Mr Cox referred to the 1933 CL386 ngh Court judgment in some detail.
The 1825 Award plan shows paths narrower than the CL330 and CL337 lands; this is
not inconsistent with rights existing before the Award, after it continuing over
the wider parts. The 1983 judgment did not decide that no rzghts existed under the
1630 Decree after the 1825 Award; it decided. that the inhabitants of the relevant
areas gave up. their rights of common over two-thirds ‘of the area ‘receiving for them
the lands referred to in the 1633 deed of enfeoffment, that is they gave up all
rights under the 1630 Decree; those over the remainder were retained. The
lmportance of the Arlebout map is the marking on it of Dicksmarsh and Thorne Common,.
the CL337 and the CL330 lands are within "Thorne Common" so marked. :

Mr Dunkley said:= Mr Helt in relation to the CL324 land only said that his father
had grazed and he had seen a bullock there. Mr Smith referred only to a straying
. right. : '

. N _
‘Mr Pennington said that.the 1633 deed of enfeoffment was a conveyance to trustees
on behalf of the inhabitants. The arguments of Mr Cox failed because the High i
Court Judqment only went so far as to establish turbary on the CL381 Thorne Waste, -
and no turbary was clalmed on any of the Reglster Units in ‘these proceedlngs

I said I-wquld inspect thg lands in these Reqister Units on a day to be notified.

i
T ' S . Inspection

On 18 May 1987 .I inspected these Register Units, to begin with in the presence of
(1). Mr P-R Pennington and Mr C Dunkley who represented those they represented at
the hearing, (2)Mr T P Smith, Solicitor of Pearlman Grazin & Co, Solicitors of
Leeds representing Mr William Bunting and (3) Mr J C Harrison. We started. by the .
'Thorne Swing Bridgé:over the Canal. Mr Dunkley pointed out the triangular piece
shown on the 1893 map now fenced off from the road and used with the Stanilands
boat building yard. By Land Rover we then went to the YGll3 land by way of the
track along -the CL337 land and under the railway bridge and Mr Poskett who had

" joined us, then pointed out the cattle loading pens.. We then walked across the
southeast side of VG113 land up on to the towpéth by the CL324 land; Mr'Dunkiey_
‘remarked that under the VG113 1984.decision the towpath had been deleted from the’
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registration. Next we returned to the Swing Bridge where Mr Dunkley pointed out
the part of the CL330 land south of the Canal. I'nav1ng seen the Register Unlts with
which Mr Dunkley was ‘concerned, he then left.

We contlnued on foot the lnspectlon of the CL330 land, walking along the footpath
from the Stanilands Yard to White Lane, on the way being joined by Mr Reed who
pointed ocut the back of 32 Lock Lane and the “bank, dyke and fences to which he had
-referred when giving ev1dence. On reaching White Lane we turned back into Lock .
Lane and viewed the north part of the CL330 land (a Steep ‘bank), where a goat was

A grazlng.

Returnlng to the 5w1ng Brldge we contxnued in.the Land Rover, inspecting: the VG112
land North Station Guyme (from 'the road only}); the CL329 land (Low Hill Landing);
the CL332 land (Reedholme Landing) ; the CL335 land (Hadd‘ Landing) 'approaching lt
from the Don side land access gate by Durham Warplng Drain Sluice, and looking “at
the CL326 .land (Blackshaw Landing) on ‘the other side of the River. After a look at
' the CL336 land (Hangman's Hill) and the CL327 1and (Sour Lane), we returned to

~. Stanilands Boatyard.

™y
Mr. Pennanton Mr Smith and Mr Harrison being agreeable torcontlnulng the
lnspectxon in their absence and Mr Pennington agreeing to warn Mrs Asquith that I
mlght be com;ng, I continued alone.

I looked again at the CL336 land and the CL327 lénd and inspected and CL334 land
(Plumtree Landing). Accompanied‘bylmrs Asquith, I inspected the CL325 land
(Topham Ferry). ) . R . E N

NextI”%hﬁ. under the bridge which takes the New Junction Canal over the road, and
- got —> some idea I suppose-of the correspondlng bridge over the River Went
mentioned: by Mr Dunkley. Next I inspected from the road thée CL326 land (Bank
-Landing). ' Then returning by the new brldge over the River Don, along the Selby

" 'Road to Thorne, I inspected the CL331 land (Love Lane) by Thorne South Station,

walking over it. Next I looked at theé east part of the VG110 land from South End -
.Road and at the west part from the Canal Bank. -

I made no special lnspectzon of the VG114 land (Thorne Markét Place) and the
VG1lll land (Church Yards), having as a visitor to Thorne seen them previously.’

Adjournment

_ The application of Mr Bunting was based on his ﬁHealth" statement (WB 1) in which
" he described his dlsabllltles and their distressing consequences. This statement
(con51dered by itself) gives no indication’ 4% ~ the llkely duration of- the
dlsab111tles, and in these proceedlngs no medlcal evidence about hlm was given.
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"I overlook this defect in the applicatidn because in proceedings ({"the December
L1985 proceedings”) about Register Units No. CL40l1, those in Groups B and C herein’
and No.. CL333, on behalf of Mr Bunting medical evidence was on 4 December 1986
given orally by his medical attendant, as set out Ln the Third Schedule to my .
dec1510n dated 20 June 1986. -

_ This ev1dence was to the effect that then the dlsablement of Mr Buntlng .
consequentlal on, hls arthritic condition was unlikely to improve. By my June 1986
" decision I refused to adjourn the proceedlnqs to enable Mr Bunting to renew his
application for Legal Aid. Although in .these 1987 proceedings, he having been
granted Legal Aid, applied for an adjournment to gather material and to instruct
his Solicitors more completely, the legal and factual considerations are
”essentlally the same, and accordingly my said June 1986 decision, particularly
pages -20, 21, 22" and 23 should so far as relevant be treated as repeated herein.

As appears from my June 1986 dec151on, Mr Buntlng has been much concerned wlth
- proceedings under the 1965 Act, and I infer he has for many years known that the
disputes and questlons arising in these ‘1987 proceedings would certalnly sooner or

. later have to be considered by a Commons Commissicner; he should therefore having

. regard to his disabilities in readiness gathered together any material which was
.complicated. I reject the idea (implicit in what was said by Mr Cox) that he need

' - not have done this before February 1987 when he first knew he had been granted

Legal Aid, or before November 1986 when notice of my February 1987 hearlng was by
. him recelved

. There was nothlng at .the beglnnlng of the hearlng Lndlcatlng that the proceedlngs
 as .regards Mr Bunting was or might be complicated. If during the hearing an
unexpected complication appeared as regards any one of these Register Units or as
regards ° any particular question, and it seemed likely that Mr Bunting might -
personally be able to help, Mr Cox could then apply for an ad]ournment or other
-relief to prevent any, Lnjustlce.' .

'»Accordlngly for the- reasons hereinbefore and in my June 1986 decision, I adhere to
- my refusal on 24 February to adjourn the hearlng.. L

According to .my notes and;recollectlon, Mr Cox‘made the applicetion only as to the
. Groups B and C." In case this application was as to all the Groups, I record that:
_everything under this heading may be treated as applicable to all the -Groups.

Group A, generally
i N . . y

There are 13 Reglster Unxts in thxs Group, and none or chem have been consxdered
:by a Commons Comm;ss;oner before. . :
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. In each of the. Group A nghts Sectlons {excluding only CL331 and CL337) there is a
, registration made on application No 2281 of Messrs W, J.and. N Bunting
"As- successors to the Tenants and Inhabitants of the Manor of Hatfield as
_ described in the 1630 Déé¢ree and Award in. the Exchequer" -
of rights described as:- oo
“To get clods, sand, warp and. gravel and. to graze 1,000 cattle over the whole
of the land comprised in this Registar Unit*. :
Addltlonally there is in each Rights Section (excepting only CL325 CL326, CL331
and CL337) a deemed registration consequential on VG177 appllcatlon No 2698 of
Messrs W, J and N Buntlng "As successors ‘... (relevantly the same as above)" o
rlghts described as:- : ' . , o ’
plscary ... venery (fur) ... éuceptary {feather) ... vert ... estovers ...
pannage ... graze 150 beasts or 150 horses or 75 sheep over the whole of the
land ccmprlsed in this. Register Unit".
Additicnally in the CL325 Rights Section there is a deemed reglstratlon
consequential - on VG120 application No. 2702 of Messrs W, J and N Bunting,
relevantly the same as the VG177 registration above quoted, save that instead of
"graze ..." is "pasture 50 beasts ...". Addltlonally in the CL327 Rights Section
registration there is a deemed registration consequent;al on VG119 application
No. 2704 made 'by Messrs W, J and N Bunting: "As successors ... (relevantly the same
as above)" of rights described relevantly the same as the VG177 registration above
quoted save that instead of "graze ..." is "pasture 300 beasts ...". In the CL331
and CL337 nghts Sections there are no reglstratlons (actual or deemed) .

Except for the .1639 Arlebout map (WB/X/I), Mr Cox took the 1630 Decree and the
“historic documents" before and after it from the CL386 High Court 1983 judgment.
He submitted (as I understood him): (i) the judgment did not altogether negative
the existence now of rights of common other than turbary which had existed before
1630; - (ii) such judgment, partlcularly paragraph (7) of the “further agreements" in
the 1630 Decree about "rents for agistment in any part of the said waste"
contemplated some such rights; (iii} the marking on the 1639.Arlebout map of
"Thorne Common" indicated that the Area so marked was subject to such rights;
"(iv) the Area included at least the CL324, CL330 and CL237 lands; and (v) the
judgment 'showed that in the absence of any evidence- of abandonment such rights
still existed. : :

As to (i) and’ (ii):~- My observat;ons on these documents at pages 22 and 23 of my

- said June 1986 decision should be treated as repeated herein. For the reasons
therein stated, I conclude that any. rxght of common such as is described or
'referred to' in the Rights Section and any right of common other than turbary which
.Could have existed before 1630 has been extlngulshed Cn none of the Register

" Units with which I am concerned, is there any peat or turf to which a right of
turbary could be appl;cable, a5 was stated by ‘some- of the witnesses and was obvious
during my inspection. The paragraph (7) referred to, does not I think support the
submission. None of the registrations actual or deemed include turbary
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As to (iii):= I consider this on the basis that I may be mistaken about (i) and
(ii). On the 1639 Arlebout map "Thorne Common" appears south of "Dicksmarsh,
Redham Common, . Dicksmarsh". It is difficult to ldentlfy the delineaticn on the
Arlebout map with any on the modern (1983) 0S8, 1/50,000 map. The best I-can do
(having since the hearing looked at these maps more carefully) is to 1dent1fy
"Redham Common”, the south of the two 'Dicksmarsh’ and “Thorne Commorn' with "Reedholme

Common', "Dikes Marsh", and “North ‘Common" respectxvely,sothecentreoftheThorneCommon

Arlebout Area is approximately the M18 road junction No. 6, and its north and south-
boundaries are approximately the road running westward from Moorends and an
east-west line somewhere near the line of the Canal. The Area includes much of .
what is now dwelllnghousesand buildings now part of the town of Thorne and much
now enclosed farm lands. On the Arlebout map, the then village is marked (perhaps
symbollcally) as one big building (? the church), a large dwelling house -south of

. it, 3 .smaller dwelling houses and.ll trees; it would. not I suppose be read in

1639 as meaning the Common included all the Village, but may be,then it was
difficult to say where the Village ended and the Common started. ‘However whatever
Lnference or guess can be made about 1639 boundaries, I coriclude that Arlebout made
his map on the basis that his "Thorne Common" Area was then at least two square miles.-
The - 1630 Decree and the 1633 deed of enfeoffment were intended to provide a new
era of development; may be the Arlebout map correctly recorded how far this
‘development had progressed by 1639; so the said two square miles Area was then
undeveloped. . But I reject the idea (implicit in Mr Cox's submission) that the map
should be read back to 1630 as indicating the maximum extent of the development by
the Decree and deed made- -possible, without the consent of now unldentlflable
perscns then ‘entitled to rlghts of common.

As to (iv) :~= The 1639 map is some,but‘not cogent evidence that the CL3292 land or
- some part of it was by Arlebout regarded as within his Thorne Common Area, across.
or near its River Don boundary. The CL327 ‘land might be-kut probably was not

by him so regarded, and it is impossible to say upon a-consideration only of

his map whether the CL324 and the CL330 lands could or would not, by him be so
reqarded . o - .

‘As to (v):- I consider this ‘on the basis ‘that I may ‘be mistaken about (i), (ii),
-(iil) and (iv), that is, that in 1639 there was an area called Thorne Common over
which.persons had rights of common.” I of course accept that as stated in the’ CL386
High Court 1983 judgment, that as regards the CL386 land there was .no evidence of
abandonment put forward and no finding of abandonment. But the CL386 land does not
now resemble the Arlebout Thorne Common Area; the one comprises many square miles

of what is now peat bog, arid the other more than two square miles of now enclosed
farm, dwelling house and other lands; I. infer they always were different. The

1983 ‘judgment does not I think preclude me from finding that over ‘the Arlebout’
Thorne Common Area, all the before 1630 rights have beer abandoned. I have no note:
or recollection of any evidence expressly relating to any such-abandonment, may be
" because it was not. until after all the ev;dence had beén glven that Mr Cox drew my

»
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-attention to the part of the 1983 judgment relating to-abandonment. But

. nevertheless. I nad much evidence about the lands in question and about rights not
~having been exerc15ed over them. As stated in the judgment, mere non exercise of
a right is not evidence of abandonment. But. open and continuous use of the servient.
tenement inconsistent with and obstructing the exercise of any rights over it is some

 evidence that the owner of the dominant tenement has a fiked intention never to
assert the right himself or to attempt to transmit it to anyone else. I have much-

. evidence (some further considered below) about the non exercise of any rights over _
_these Group A Register Units, which by implication shows that such rights never were
and never could be exercised over the adjoining lands, they being ordinary farms,.

- or dwelling house and other lands enjoyed and used as free from rlghts of common’ in
circumstances in which the exercise of any grazing or other right of common was
practically interfered with either by actual obstruction or by it being in the
circumstances of the exlstlng use openly unacceptable. The facts which .I now

- consider to be 1mpllc1t in such evidence, were during my inspection obvious. Upcn

_ these considerations I find that the rights of common exxstlng(:f any there were)
"before 1630 over the Arlebout Thorne Common Area had some time befcre 1965 been

.abandoned. Where rights of common have existed over an area of more than
two square miles, those entitled can in law abandon the rights over part without
necessarily affecting adversely their rights over the remainder, eg by tolerating.

. an encroachment ;- but where (as has here happened) an intention to abandon rights
over an area of more than two square miles has been shown, rights of common cannot
sensibly continue to exist (they would be practically very different) over such
comparatively very small areas as the CL324, CL329, CL330. and CL334 lands.

Summarisingfthis heading, my decision is:- If there are any rights of common now
existing over these Register Units, they cannot have existed from time immemorial,

- and cannot therefore be established by prescrlptlon at common law. I consider
later in this ‘decision whether the existence in 1965 of any such rlghts was
established under the Prescripticon Act 1833 or under a presumed grant such as

" was, specified in Tehidy v Norman 1971 20QB 528, leaving open any question there may
be as to whether if I.find such a right established I must either modify the Rights
Section registrations accordingly.or must because the . rlght S0 established has never

been reqlstered dlsreqard it.

Group A Rlver Don (8) Landlngs

Going down the Rlver, these are:- CL324 '(Al0, Plumtree Landing), cL3iz27 {A4, Sour
Lane Landing}, CL329 (A6, Low Hill Landing}, CL336 (Al2, Hangmans Hill Ferry
Landing), CL326 (A3, Blackshaw Landing and Public Watering Place), CL336 (All,
Hadds Landlng), CL332 (A9, Reed Holme Landing) and CL328 (AS, Bank Landlng).

" For these reglstratlons, I have the 1968 statutcry declaratzons made by Mr Buntlng

- in support of his applications, his February 1987 -affidavit, the oral evidence of
‘Mr Holt on 24 and confirmed on 26 February, and a number of incidental facts which
others when glVlng evidence either vclunteered or mentioned in answer to questlons

by Mr Cox and others. )
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The above description of these "Landings", is that given by Mr Bunting in his
statutory declarations; only CL326 and CL336 are additicnally by him described
‘respectively as a "Public Watering Place" and as a "Ferry" landing.’
Mr Bunting in his affidavit says (among other things):- (2) "This affidavit contains
matters about which I would wish to-give evidence were I well enough to attend the
hearing ...". (4) "It is my contention that members of the public have exercised
rights of way access (51c) the registered land since time immemorial. The landing
_Places were used as watering places until 1965 ... There is a public right of way,
- evidenced by a footpath/towpath along the banks of the River Don from Mill Bridge
Doncaster to Goole and Trent Falls. This Publlc Footpath/Towpath has been in
‘existence as long as I can recall: . I am now 71 years of age. Further, members of

the public have exercised a rlght te fish and take flcora and fauna from the land
‘places. Up until the eéarly 1970's I witnessed persons -taking timber and kindling
- from the relevant landing places. Up until 1930 I frequently saw cattle belng grazed
" by Parishioners”.; (S) The exhibited photographs (WB2) "provide clear evidence of

the public right of access over the registered areas.”; (6) The exhibited 1970 letter
"from Thorne RDC Clerk indicates his view as to the possibility of water sport
activities from West Ings at Stainforth to Ashfields at Thorne, and’ en to part of

the old River Don adjoining Sour Lane,-all such areas being linked by footpaths and

in some parts by the sites of old public landings where ... it will be. possible to
create the minimum facilities” for water sport and other outdoor recreation'; (7),

(8) and (9) The exhibits show that or about 1960 a public right-of way was admitted
by some authorities' consequentially, as was said publlcly, on. the activities of

Mr Buntlng, (10) The exhibited 1970 letter {WBl12) from the Clerk of Yorkshlre Cuse
and Hull River Authorlty showed (so Mr Bunting contends) that ."these landings were
‘the subject of public rlghts of way and indeed used by the public for recreational
purposes ..."; and {11) "In addition to the usage referred to above, as long as I

can remember the landings have been used by naturalists ..."

Althdugh not expressed, I read Mr Bunting's May.1968 declarations and his February
1987 .affidavit as alleging that all these eight Register Units are hlstorlcally
landing places, meaning.for some historic period (say 100 years or more perhaps back
- from about 1930) they have beén publicly used as such. They do not appear to be such
now, and I have much uncontradicted evidence that none of them are currently.so used;
I disregard the wharf, apparently private, ‘recently erected .on or near CL328, as
being obviously not ancient and unlike anything conceived 100 years age. That over
" the years the course of the River Don and the height and position of its banks have
changed is evident from some of the documents produced or referred to. But about
these changes for lack of information, .I can make no flndlng except to say that any
‘historic landings existing before these changes cannot be in exactly the, Same place
as those now claimed and most of them must have been some distance away, I guess
that in bygone years persons having boats have with some reqularity gone to and from
the- Rlver from and to places at or near to the lands in these Register Units; they
" are all conveniently near public roads, now apparently public highways. But. I think
it wniikely that these. ancient landing places ever had distinct boundaries such as
for these Register Units are delineated on the Register map; so on the evidence I
have I am unable to find that these Register Units are or ever have been landings
wlthxn any meaning of this word which could now be relevant. Also' I am unable in
_the absence of evidence to find that since 1630 any rlght of common over any .of these
'JReglster Units has ever been exercised. Consequently the burden of proof being upen

‘Mr ‘Bunting and any other person clalmzng that the reglstratxons were rightly made,
my dec1510n is agalnst them. ’ .
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From. information about Mr Bunting acquired in the other proceedings mentioned in my
- said June 1986 decision, I know Mr Bunting as a person with considerable knowledge
of the history of this locality. It is therefore pcsszble or perhaps likely, that
if he was well enough to give evxdence, he could have proved -that the whole or some
part of all these Reglster Units, or some places not far from them had in years gone
‘by been locally used and recognised as landings .in circumstances leading to a
presumption that the public had a right to use them ‘as such. :

. Mr Cox in opening mentioned the 1824 Award and the History of G Storer; I have no

.note or recollection of loocking in the Award to see whether it contains any allotment
of- landlngs on’ the River Don or of seeing this History. In the circumstances I

‘consider I ought not to give a decision based solely on my aforesald inability to
make any findings ‘about historic landings; I shall therefore in all that follows

. under. this heading assume that these Regiéter Units have the legal status of public
"landings wholly -or in part. On this assumption (favourable to Mr Bunting and others

' wanting these registrations to be confirmed) I reject the 1987 affidavit of

~ Mr Bunting as being irrelevant for the reasons stated in the next three parqqraphs.

In the Commons Registration Act 1965, common land "does not include ... any land
which forms part of a highway", see section 22. The River being tidal is or may be .
hlghway, the use by the public of these landing places, all of which on their '
further side adjoin a public right (apparently highway) is evxdence that the places

: themselves are highway, and therefore not properly req1strable as common land.

The footpaths mentioned by Mr Bunting are along (or not far from) the top of ‘one of
the banks (normal flow o flood) of the River; for great distances there are stxles
- over fences which might otherwise obstruct walking along them; these footpaths have

. no necessary. connection with the lan :ﬁlaces so I have no jurisdiction to

investigate their status; I therefore merely record that these footpaths (so far as
I saw them) appeared to be enjoyable by any member of the public wishing on foot to
view the countryside, .particularly the River and that nobody at the hearing dlssented '
from the public recognition of Mr Bunting as hav1ng been concerned with the :
lmprovement of these footpaths as stated in the 1960 Press Cuttlngs {WB9) .

But in case I am mistaken in treatlng the lands in these Reqlster Units, if they are
- anc1ent landing places, as hlghway,_I consider whether ‘they come within the other
-'parts of the 1965 Act definition: "(a}) land subject to rights of common (as defined

in thxs Act) ..."; or (b) waste land of a manor ...".-

" As to these. lands belng in 1965. "subject to rights of common"-- Having regard to my
decision under the above hearing: Group A generally, I am now only concerned with
rights established under thé 1833 Act or a presumed grant. The timber and kindling
mentioned by Mr Bunting as hav1ng been taken by the public, I find, having regard
" to the evidence of other witnesses, was taken from the River itself; from what I saw
on my inspection, hav1ng regard to the size of the lands in these Register Units I
find there was never any timber or kindling growing there enough to support a
‘prescription. .The publi¢ fishing, taking of- flora and fauna and use by naturalists
falls short of establishing any right of common such use being unobjectionable, see .
Beckett v Lyons 1967 Ch 449 at pages 469 and 475. The grazing of cattle by
parishicners before 1930 as seen by Mr Bunting was not for long enough to support
a prescriptive rlght and having regard to the. evidence of others particularly of
-Mr J C Harrison and the present appearance of these Register Units I find that any
such gra21ng was not as of right. '
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As to waste land of a manor:- Many landlng places and waterlng places have been
Areglstered under the 1965 Act; there is no reason why such places siould not. be part
of the waste land of a manor; further under a public charitable trust land may be
a’' public landing place or public watering place in respect of which the-public in
appropriate proceedings can compel its owner to submit to the trust. But the mere
circumstance that the land has from time immemorial been used as a public landing

or is or may be subject to a public charitable trust is not evidence, or at least

is not conclusive evidence that it is waste land of a manor. All these eight
Register Units are wholly or in part within the area between the flood bank and the
normal flow bank on one or other side of the River and grazed exclusively as
.described by Mr G A Poskltt Mr J C Harrison and Mr'J D Stones and not as waste .land.
Notwithstanding that none of these Units are in any Ownership -Section reglstered in
_the name of Yorkshlre Water Authority (or of anyone else other than Thorne Parish
Council of CL329, CL330, CL332 and CL335) these units. are being grazed by

Messrs Poskitt, Harrison and Stones as tenants of the Authority; there was no
evidence that the Authority or any of its predecessors are or were Lord of any
possibly relevant Manor. In the 1970 letter (WBL2) produced by Mr Bunting it is said
generally "a majority of the Rlver Don banks are owned by the Authority"; although :
the writer agrees that "there are a number of landings on the banks of the River .

- Don, many of which are not owned by the river autheority" he makes no suggestlon that
'those not so owned are manorial. Mr Holt spoke of Hangman Hill (CL336) and Bank.
Landing (CL326) as places which he as a boy did boyish things, and of -Sour Lane
(CL327) as rough, and Mr.Stones spoke of some time ago knowing CL332 (Reedholme
Landing) as ‘Willow Garth, see -aboveé under heading: Course of proceedings; perhaps
_these units would as Mr Holt and Mr Steones first remembered would have been: reqarded
as waste land; however this may be, I cannot infer that they were ever "of a manor"
within any now relevant sense; see re Box, 1980 Ch 109. - So generally I had much
evidence that these eight Register Units were not and very little evidence that they
were waste land of a manor, and on balance I find that none of them at any now
relevant time were such. ) ' '

The Thorne Parish CounciI CL329, CL330, CL332 and CL335 Ownership Section

- registrations were not supported by evidence and were in effect withdrawn by their
Solicitors letters of January 1987 (CD/14 specified in Part XII of the Second
.Schedule hereto). So I conclude that they were not properly made.

For these reasons my dec1slon is as spec1f1ed in, paragraphs a3, A4 AS, A6 A9 alo,
All and Al2 of the Third Schedule hereto. ' :

az, Tophaﬁ ferry Landing.or
. Waterlng P;ace

.About thls Reglster Unlt CLBZSH Mrs Asguith gave evidence, all against it havan been
at any. now relevant time common land within the 1965 Act section 22 deflnztxon On
my Lnspectlon. it did not appear to be now within the definition.

From the. names on the modern OS map 1/2500 (AMA/2), "Topham Ferry House", "Topham.
Ferry gate" and "Topham Ferry Bridge", I infer- that there was at one time somewhere
near the now existing bridge (about 50 yards northwest of the nearest side of this
.Register Unit) a ferry over the River Went., The bridge may be wholly or in part
private and not wholly not for vehicles public highway; however this may be,
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Mrs Asquith said there has been no ferry since she has been there (nearly 60 years)
and: the 1982 conveyances are not significantly different from the 1918 conveyance
(AMA/3 and 4). I have no other evidence as to. how when or where the ferry operated;
' -Mr Bunting in paragraph 4 of his February 1987 affidavit refers to this Register Unit
without glVlng any information about it partlcularly

,_Relevantly, the Rrver Went now flows stralght between two nearly parallel banks as
 shown on the 1855 map (AMA/6) and.more recent maps; the 1855 map marks the “Old
. Course of River", a meandering course more or less traceable during my lnspectron
As a present day landing place for a ferry over the RLver as it now is, this Regrsterﬁ
'Unlt (it contalns 3 712 acres) is unreasonably large. ’

The oral ev1dence of Mrs Asqulth which'I accept shows the Reglster Unit as net

_Ahav1ng been used for a long time as a ferry landing place or public watering place
or any other publrc purpose and no-one has exercised any rights of common over it. .
Generally the ‘highway and other considerations against the propriety of the Land and

.